
 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 26th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

Members Present: 
Dr. Michael Klemens (Chair) 
Cathy Shyer (Vice Chair) – left at 8:14PM 
Martin Whalen (Secretary) 
Bob Riva (Regular Member) 
Allen Cockerline (Regular Member) 
Dr. Danella Schiffer (Alternate Member) 
Beth Wells (Alternate Member) 
 

Members Absent: 
 
Staff Present: 
Abby Conroy (Land Use Director) 
Miles Todaro (Land Use Technical Specialist) 
Herb Singleton (Town Consulting Acoustical Engineer) 
 

Brief Items and Announcements 1 

1. Call to Order / Establish Quorum 2 

Chair Klemens called the Special Meeting to order at 6:30PM. A quorum was established with five 3 

regular members present (Dr. Michael Klemens, Cathy Shyer, Martin Whalen, Allen Cockerline, Bob 4 

Riva). Alternate Members Dr. Danella Schiffer and Beth Wells were also present. 5 

 6 

Motion: To approve the Agenda. 7 

Made by Whalen, seconded by Cockerline. 8 

Vote: 5-0-0 in favor. 9 

 10 

2. Minutes of July 21, 2025 - pending 11 

3. Minutes of August 4, 2025 - pending 12 

4. Minutes of August 5, 2025 - pending 13 

5. Minutes of August 12, 2025 - pending 14 

6. Minutes of August 14, 2025 - pending 15 

7. Minutes of August 18, 2025 - pending 16 

8. Minutes of August 19, 2025 - pending 17 

 18 

Public Hearing - 6:30PM 19 

9. #2025-0287 / Wake Robin LLC & Ms. Serena Granbery (ARADEV LLC) / 104 & 106 Sharon Road & 53 20 

Wells Hill Road / Special Permit for Hotel, Redevelopment of the Wake Robin Inn (Section 213.5) / Map 21 

47/ Lot 2 & 2-1 / DOR: 05/05/2025 / Continue Hearing, Close By 09/09/2025 22 

 23 

The Public Hearing continued at 6:31PM. Chair Klemens provided opening remarks. He introduced 24 

himself, the Commission Members, Land Use Office (LUO) Staff, and the Commission’s Acoustic Engineer 25 

Herbert Singleton. He explained three reports were submitted by the Cruger’s consultants. Each 26 

consultant would receive fifteen minutes for a presentation, and the Commission and Applicant would 27 

be given a chance to cross-examine. Chair Klemens encouraged the Applicant to respond to all questions 28 

in writing. He added that the Public would be acknowledged first at the Public Hearing continuation on 29 

September 4, 2025. 30 

 31 

LUTS Todaro listed the documents added to the record since the last public hearing date. Land Use 32 

Attorney Joshua Mackey, Landscape Architect Mark Arigoni of SLR Consulting, and Development Team 33 

Project Partners Steven Cohen and Jonathan Marrale were present to represent the application. Mr. 34 

Arigoni presented a revised Photometric Plan and explained specification sheets were submitted for 35 

each individual lighting fixture. He said there was a 0.0-foot candle lighting level at all property limits and 36 

all light fixtures were verified Dark Skies compliant. Light fixtures around the parking area could be 37 



 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 26th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

installed with a dimmer system and turned down to fifty percent when not in use. 38 

 39 

Mr. Cohen said the application was consistent with the Town Plan of Conservation and Development 40 

(POCD). Mr. Cohen believed there are presently limited options in Town for residents to gather and host 41 

events, a shortage of hotel rooms, and few fast casual lunch options. He explained ARADEV planned to 42 

own and manage the property for the foreseeable future. Mr. Cohen stated there were specific 43 

conditions of approval that could strengthen enforceability. He believed a serious commitment to 44 

compliance was demonstrated. He said the Commission would have more authority to regulate activities 45 

at the property via issuance of a Special Permit. 46 

 47 

Mr. Cohen explained pedestrian crossing and safety on route 41 was dependent on response from the 48 

Connecticut Department of Transportation (DOT). Discussion between the Applicant and DOT would 49 

continue regarding sidewalks, pedestrian crossings, and sightline improvements. Mr. Cohen also noted 50 

that the Wake Robin Inn is private property and hotel staff would have the right to remove disorderly 51 

guests at their discretion. All guests would be informed of policies prior to any reservations. He believed 52 

the Applicant’s interests were aligned with those of the abutting properties, since they would not want 53 

guests to be inconvenienced by nuisance noise. Mr. Cohen also believed the application could not be 54 

denied on the assertion that the Town does not have the ability to enforce its Regulations. Mr. Cohen 55 

also presented acoustical data on tented versus indoor events in response to a question from a previous 56 

meeting. 57 

 58 

Mr. Cohen explained there were theoretical advantages to renovating the existing Wake Robin Inn and 59 

operating without a Special Permit, as there would be fewer property restrictions. The driveways exiting 60 

on Sharon Road and Wells Hill Road would both remain open with unrestricted access. He said outdoor 61 

events with amplified music, extended hours of operation or increased capacity could be held with few, 62 

if any, restrictions. Mr. Cohen summarized advantages to the Special Permit application listed on the 63 

slideshow presentation, and concluded the Special Permit gave the Commission control to alleviate 64 

potential nuisance conditions currently allowed on the property. 65 

 66 

Chair Klemens asked for an update on the status of the Conservation Easement. Mr. Arigoni replied that 67 

discussion was still underway with the Natural Diversity Database (NDDB) and Connecticut Department 68 

of Energy and Environmental Protection (DEEP). He added that all of their plans have been reviewed, 69 

and the remaining discussion is just regarding language of the easement.   70 

 71 

Alternate Member Wells asked if dimmable parking lot lights could be on a timer or utilize motion 72 

sensors. Mr. Arigoni said both options would be investigated. 73 

 74 

Alternate Member Schiffer asked which hotel staff would be designated for enforcement. She also asked 75 

if neighboring residents would be able to contact staff twenty-four hours a day if issues arise. Attorney 76 

Mackey responded that a full-time manager would be accessible via phone number published for 77 

contact, with staff available on site as well. Attorney Mackey said he would submit a memo on court 78 

cases that involved speculation of impact. 79 

 80 

George Logan of Rema Environmental Services LLC noted there were two outlying conditions from the 81 

Inland Wetlands & Watercourses Commission (IWWC) permit approval that had not been completed. He 82 

said permeability tests are required to understand if the proposed detention basins would perform as 83 



 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 26th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

intended. He believed an Invasive Plant Management Plan should be submitted. Mr. Logan said there 84 

was a 0.72% reduction in woodland impact for this proposed redevelopment compared to the previously 85 

withdrawn application. Impervious surface increased from 2.85 to 2.9 acres which resulted in increased 86 

peak runoff values on the Drainage Report. He mentioned Northern Long-Eared Bats present on the 87 

property are federally endangered and suggested including plans to save potentially optimal trees for 88 

breeding females. Mr. Logan asked for more insight into communications between the Applicant and 89 

NDDB. 90 

 91 

Mr. Arigoni said a detailed response letter to Mr. Logan’s comments was submitted by the Applicant 92 

after 5:00PM. Mr. Arigoni said Soil Permeability Tests were submitted for the record and results were 93 

reviewed and accepted by the Town’s licensed professional peer review engineer. He mentioned a 94 

detailed Invasive Species Management Plan was part of the IWWC permit approval, and the Applicant 95 

would provide a completed integrated pest management plan prior to the issuance of final permits. 96 

Ecology Manager Matthew Sanford of SLR Consulting explained he was in contact with State Consulting 97 

Field Botanist Bill Moorhead. The Applicant received approval for the Mitigation Plan and Surveys 98 

completed. He said language for the conservation easement was the only outstanding business. Mr. 99 

Sanford said the Applicant would adhere to any time-of-year tree clearing restrictions for the Northern 100 

Long-Eared Bats required by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service. 101 

 102 

Chair Klemens expressed concern that the public would not have an opportunity to review an Invasive 103 

Plant Management Plan if provided as a condition of approval. Secretary Whalen asked if phosphorus or 104 

nitrogen removal should adhere to waste treatment plans. Mr. Logan replied criteria of meeting 105 

minimum standards must be met. Mr. Logan believed the proposed water basins were not appropriate 106 

because they had river stone bottoms. 107 

 108 

Commissioner Cockerline asked if the proposed detention basins were intended to capture mineral 109 

source particles. Mr. Logan replied that consideration of the basin process was essential due to the 110 

quotient of soluble phosphorus. Commissioner Cockerline asked if a rain garden would be beneficial 111 

alongside the proposed detention basins. Mr. Logan replied yes, especially because bioretention basins 112 

were not proposed. Commissioner Cockerline asked where sources of nitrogen and phosphorus would 113 

generate with impervious surface. Mr. Logan replied a significant amount of nitrogen is received from 114 

atmospheric fallout. Commissioner Riva asked if the nitrogen and phosphorus anticipated on the 115 

property was naturally occurring or added by the property owner through fertilizer. Mr. Logan replied 116 

both are naturally occurring but mitigation practices when applying fertilizer must be addressed. Mr. 117 

Riva asked how to hold other property owners around Lake Wononscopomuc to the same standard. Mr. 118 

Logan was unsure. 119 

 120 

Acoustical Engineer Bennett Brooks of Brooks Acoustics Corporation believed the proposed 121 

redevelopment was similar to the previously withdrawn application and in violation of Section 803.2 and 122 

803.3 of the Regulations. In his opinion, the Applicant provided little to no scientific evidence that the 123 

redevelopment would not be audible to neighboring properties, and potential noise intrusions would 124 

have an immediate impact. He added that human behavior could not be mitigated and nuisance noise 125 

from construction was not addressed by the Applicant. Mr. Brooks believed the Applicant lacked a 126 

comprehensive plan. 127 

 128 

Attorney Mackey commented that Mr. Brooks’ report consisted of speculation and subjective opinions. 129 



 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 26th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

He believed the report lacked technical analysis, cited data, and there was no evidence that testing was 130 

conducted. Liam Maloney of Cavanaugh Tocci Associates said a detailed written response letter would 131 

be submitted. Mr. Maloney explained their acoustics study included low frequency noise and was 132 

calculated to the nearest property lines after eight weeks of continuous long-term monitoring at eight 133 

separate locations on the property. Mr. Singleton clarified that he believes “nuisance noise” implies a 134 

level of annoyance partly based on audibility, but that does not mean any noise you can hear is nuisance. 135 

He suggested the Commission consider frequency of noises rather than strictly whether or not noises are 136 

audible. He also noted that considering any audible noise a nuisance would be very difficult to enforce 137 

and is an interpretation that gets dangerous very quickly. 138 

 139 

Chair Klemens asked all present Acoustical Engineering professionals if nuisance noise is in the ear of the 140 

beholder. He believed neighbors to this project may be more sensitive to sound from the property, and 141 

therefore may consider any audible noise a nuisance. Mr. Maloney confirmed that the definition of 142 

nuisance noise should be determined by scientists and engineers using thorough measurement 143 

techniques and establish standards. Mr. Brooks believed he utilized data provided by the Applicant to 144 

make his educated judgements about nuisance noise. Mr. Singleton agreed that the definition of 145 

nuisance depends on the listener’s expectations and context of the surrounding environment. 146 

 147 

Chair Klemens explained the Cruger’s chose not to Intervene during this application, but he wished to 148 

allow their experts to engage in dialogue. 149 

 150 

Vice Chair Shyer asked how construction noise could be mitigated. She also asked for more detail on 151 

how much noise the swimming pool will generate. Vice Chair Shyer left the Meeting at 8:14PM. 152 

 153 

Commissioner Cockerline asked Mr. Brooks if there are any construction details that could mitigate low 154 

frequency noise from the event facility and main hotel. Mr. Brooks replied that it is difficult to block 155 

lower frequency sounds. He also noted that we would have preferred data with a baseline L90 spectrum 156 

of sound to compare with nearby property lines. Commissioner Cockerline asked if he reviewed the 157 

construction plan details. Mr. Brooks confirmed he had, and believed they were not sufficient to block 158 

low frequency sounds. 159 

 160 

Alternate Member Schiffer asked if Mr. Brooks’ statement regarding “no noise relief” was a subjective 161 

perception or reality. Mr. Brooks said it is reality because repetition of noise creates more nuisance. 162 

 163 

Alternate Member Wells asked for the difference between noise during the day versus at night. Mr. 164 

Singleton replied the Applicant provided criteria based on activities at night, therefore accounting for 165 

increased annoyance.  166 

 167 

Chair Klemens called a brief recess at 8:26PM. The Meeting continued at 8:31PM. 168 

 169 

Certified Planner Brian Miller explained he evaluated the application from a planning perspective. Mr. 170 

Miller believed the proposed redevelopment was not a tremendous decrease compared to the 171 

previously withdrawn application. He believed the redevelopment was too large and out of scale for the 172 

surrounding rural residential area. Mr. Miller complimented the Applicant for their attempt to minimize 173 

negative impacts to the surrounding community but he believed nuisance noise would be generated and 174 

enforcement would be limited. He mentioned affordable housing issues and pedestrian impact were 175 



 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 26th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

additional concerns. Mr. Miller believed the project was proposed in good faith but urged caution as 176 

good intentions cannot be enforced and change of ownership could occur. 177 

 178 

Certified Planner Vince McDermott of SLR Consulting said he would submit a written response to Mr. 179 

Miller’s observations to the record. 180 

 181 

Commissioner Cockerline asked if he could submit questions to the record so the experts could review 182 

and answer in the future, LUD Conroy replied yes. 183 

 184 

Alternate Member Schiffer asked Mr. Miller how the application would worsen the affordable housing 185 

issues in Town. Mr. Miller stated the Applicant proposed seventy to eighty low-wage positions. He 186 

believed adding low-paying jobs in a Town where employees already could not afford to live in the 187 

community would a detriment and increase demand for affordable housing. LUD Conroy asked Mr. 188 

Miller if he reviewed the Affordable Housing Plan (AHP). Mr. Miller replied he had not. LUD Conroy said 189 

the AHP and POCD identified short-term rentals as contributors to the lack of affordable housing in Town 190 

and asked if a hotel would provide additional temporary accommodations. Mr. Miller replied he was 191 

unsure. 192 

 193 

Chair Klemens mentioned the size and ecological constraints of the property. He asked Mr. McDermott 194 

and Mr. Miller how many units could be accommodated by applying under CT General Statutes section 195 

8-30g. He also asked how noise would be balanced with their recommendations. Mr. McDermott replied 196 

he was unsure but the number would be large, depending mainly on the limitations and adequacy of the 197 

sewer system. Mr. Miller replied he was unsure but suggested ten to twelve units, as it would provide 198 

better accommodations between the developer and community. 199 

 200 

Chair Klemens opened the floor to the public for questions and comments. 201 

 202 

Member of the public Peter Plagens believed the Commission should protect the character of the village 203 

district by denial of the application. He believed the redevelopment was inappropriate and outsized 204 

within a residential area. He asked the Commission how the proposed redevelopment would protect the 205 

general welfare of the community. 206 

 207 

Member of the public Mark Capecelatro believed his previous question about 53 Wells Hill Road being 208 

included with the application was inadequately addressed by the Applicant. Mr. Capecelatro mentioned 209 

changes made to the Regulations by the Commission were intended to legitimize pre-existing hotel uses; 210 

not to allow the expansion of pre-existing nonconforming hotel use. He believed the application should 211 

not be permitted as it would degrade the surrounding residential area in favor of a non-conforming 212 

commercial use. 213 

 214 

Member of the public Mike Nachwalter believed the proposed redevelopment was not suitable within 215 

the village of Lakeville. Mr. Nachwalter expressed concern for nuisance noise, enforcement and 216 

decreased property values. 217 

 218 

Member of the public Mark Capecelatro believed the submitted A2 Survey did not take into account 219 

requirements of the Zoning Regulations Section 301.1 that handles the calculation of minimum lot area. 220 

He said the application did not make note of the area’s easements. He believed the Applicant should 221 



 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 26th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

locate and calculate the various contained easements and recalculate the lot size. 222 

 223 

Motion: To continue the public hearing to September 4, 2025 at 6:30PM via Zoom. 224 

Made by Cockerline, seconded by Whalen. 225 

Vote: 4-0-0 in favor. 226 

 227 

Adjournment 228 

 229 

Motion: To adjourn the Meeting at 9:31PM. 230 

Made by Riva, seconded by Whalen. 231 

Vote: 4-0-0 in favor. 232 

 233 

 234 

Respectfully Submitted, 235 

Erika Spino 236 

Secretary of Minutes 237 


